FILED Court of Appeals Division II State of Washington 6/3/2021 4:42 PM

FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 6/4/2021 BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

No. <u>99851-5</u>

COA #52603-4-II Cowlitz County No. 18-1-00326-08

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

٧.

ERIC NEWMAN,

Petitioner.

ON REVIEW FROM THE COURT OF APPEALS OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,
DIVISION TWO
AND THE SUPERIOR COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON,
COWLITZ COUNTY

PETITION FOR REVIEW

KATHRYN RUSSELL SELK, No. 23879 Counsel for Petitioner

> RUSSELL SELK LAW OFFICE 1037 Northeast 65th Street,# 176 Seattle, Washington 98115 (206) 782-3353

C.	ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW		
D.	OVER	VIEW OF RELEVANT FACTS 1	
E.	<u>ARGU</u>	MENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED 3	
	1.	IT IS TIME FOR THE COURT TO TAKE REVIEW AND ADDRESS THE WIDESPREAD CONTINUING VIOLATIONS CRIMINAL RULE 3.2 REGARDING PRETRIAL RELEASE, INCLUDING THE FAILURE OF THE LOWER COURTS TO COMPLY WITH AMENDMENTS SPECIFICALLY MADE TO REDRESS RACIST AND UNFAIR PRETRIAL RELEASE PRACTICES.	
	2.	THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED IN HOLDING THAT THE MISCONDUCT DID NOT COMPEL REVERSAL AND COUNSEL WAS NOT EFFECTIVE RELATIVE TO THE USE OF AN IMPROPER EVIDENTIARY PRESUMPTION TO ESTABLISH THE ESSENTIAL KNOWLEDGE ELEMENT OF THE STOLEN FIREARM CRIME	
F.	CONCLUSION		

TABLE OF AUTHORITIES

WASHINGTON SUPREME COURT

Harris v. Charles, 171 Wash.2d 455, 256 P.3d 328 (2011)
<u>In re Glassman</u> , 175 Wn.2d 696, 286 P.3d 673 (2012)
<u>State v. Allen</u> , 182 Wn.2d 364, 341 P.3d 168 (2015)
<u>State v. Barton</u> , 181 Wn.2d 148, 331 P.3d 50 (2014)
<u>State v.</u> Heslin, 63 Wn.2d 957, 389 P.3d 892 (1964)
State v. Thomas, 109 Wn.2d 222, 743 P.2d 816 (1987)
WASHINGTON COURT OF APPEALS
Butler v. Kato, 137 Wn. App. 515, 154 P.3d 259 (2007)
<u>State v. Barnes</u> , 4 Wn. App.2d 1079 (2018), <u>review denied</u> , 192 Wn.2d 1011 (2019) (unpublished)
<u>State v. Comenout, Jr.,</u> 10 Wn. App.2d 1038 (2019), <u>review denied</u> , 195 Wn.2d 1003 (2000)(unpublished)
<u>State v. Cummings</u> , 8 Wn.App.2d 1006 (2019) (unpublished) 7, 9, 10
<u>State v. Ewing</u> , 13 Wn. App.2d 1023 (2020) (unpublished) 7, 8, 11
<u>State v. Garcia</u> , 15 Wn. App.2d 1044 (2020) (unpublished)
State v. Hartzog, 96 Wn.2d 383, 635 P.2d 694 (1981)
State v. Huckins, 5 Wn. App.2d 457, 426 P.3d 797 (2018) 7-11
<u>State v. Ingram</u> , 9 Wn.App.2d 482, 447 P.3d 192 (2019), <u>review denied</u> , 194 Wn.2d 1024 (2020)
State v. Khlee, 106 Wn. App. 21, 22 P.3d 1264 (2001) 17
State v. Newman, Wn. App.2d (unpublished) (2021 WL 1759226)

State v. Rockett, 6 Wn. App. 399, 493 P.3d 321 (1972)
State v. Rose, 146 Wn. App. 439, 191 P.3d 83 (2008) 5
State v. Wilson, 8 Wn. App.2d 1005 (2019) (unpublished)
Yakima v. Mollett, 115 Wn. App. 604, 63 P.3d 177 (2003) 11
FEDERAL CASES
Barker v. Wingo, 407 U.S. 514, 33 L. Ed. 2d 101, 92 S. Ct. 2182 (1972)
<u>Strickland v. Washington</u> , 466 U.S. 688, 104 S. Ct. 2052, 80 L. Ed. 2d 674 (1984)
<u>United States v. Salerno</u> , 481 U.S. 739, 107 S. Ct. 2085, 96 L. Ed. 2d 697 (1987)
RULES, STATUTES AND CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS
Article 1, section 14
Article 1, section 20
CrR 3.2 1, 3, 6, 8, 10-12, 14, 16
CrR 3.2(a)4
CrR 3.2(b)
CrR 3.2(d)(6)
Eighth Amendment12
RCW 9A.56.310
OTHER AUTHORITIES
Andrew D. Leipold, <i>How the Pretrial Process Contributes to Wrongful Convictions</i> , 42 AM. CRIM. L. REV. 1123 (2005)

Caseloads of the Courts, Superior Courts, Criminal Case Management (2016)
Christopher T. Lowenkamp et. al, <i>Investigating the Impact of Pretrial Detention on Sentencing Outcomes</i> , Arnold Foundation (Nov. 2013)
CRIMINAL RULES TASK FORCE, WASHINGTON PROPOSED RULES OF CRIMINAL PROCEDURE Rule 3.2 (West Publ'g Co.1971)12
Eric Holder, Attorney General of the United States, Speech at the National Symposium on Pretrial Justice (June 1, 2011)
George Bridges, A Study on Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Superior Court Bail and Pre-Trial Detention Practices in Washington, Washington State Minority and Justice Commission (Oct. 1997) 3, 5, 12
Hon. Theresa Doyle, <i>Fixing the Money Bail System</i> , KING COUNTY BAR BULL. (KCBA, Seattle, WA) (April 2016)
In the Matter of the Adoption of the Amendments to CrR 3.2, CrR 3.2.1, CrRLJ 3.2 and CrRLJ 3.2.1, Order No. 25700-A-721 (WSR 02-01-025) (Dec. 6, 2001)
John S. Goldkamp, <i>Two Classes of the Accused: A Study of Bail and Detention in American Justice</i> (Ballinger Publishing Co., 1979) (Cambridge, Ma)
Pretrial Reform Task Force: Final Recommendations Report (Feb. 2019)16
Ram Subramanian et al, <i>Incarceration's Front Door: The Misuse of Jails in America</i> , Vera Institute of Justice) (Feb. 2015)14
Thomas H. Cohen and Brian A. Reaves, Bureau of Justice Statistics, Special Report, <i>Pretrial Release of Felony Defendants in State Courts</i> (Nov. 2007)15
Timothy R. Schnacke, Fundamentals of Bail: a Resource Guide for Pretrial Practitioners and a Framework for American Pretrial Reform, U.S. Dept. Of Justice, Nat'l Inst. of Corrections (2014)

A. IDENTITY OF PARTY

Mr. Eric Jacob Newman, appellant in the Court of Appeals and the accused in the trial court, is the Petitioner herein.

B. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

Mr. Newman seeks review of a portion of the decision of the court of appeals, Division Two, in <u>State v. Newman</u>, __ Wn. App.2d ____ (unpublished) (2021 WL 1759226), issued May 4, 2021.¹

C. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

 In multiple counties across the state, trial judges are failing to properly apply the mandates of CrR 3.2, especially portions of the rule specifically amended as as result of this Court's Commission 1997 finding of unfairness and disproportionate impact on indigents and people of color under the old version of the rule.

These failures have continued despite Division Two making mulitple efforts to remind trial courts of their obligations under the rule.

Should this Court accept review to redress this ongoing, widespread issue, which is of a substantial and significant public interest, repeating but likely evading review, affecting fundamental rights like the presumption of innocence?

2. Did the prosecutor commit misconduct and was counsel prejudicially ineffective in failing to object when the State argued an improper presumption to prove an essential element of its case?

D. OVERVIEW OF RELEVANT FACTS

Accusations and trial

Petitioner Eric J. Newman was charged in Cowlitz County superior court with 1) possession with intent to deliver

¹A copy of the opinion is attached hereto as Appendix A.

methamphetamine (while armed with a firearm), 2) possession of heroin, 3) first-degree unlawful possession of a firearm, and 4) possessing a stolen firearm. CP 27-29, 62-65. He was convicted of all four counts but the jury explicitly found that he was *not* armed with a firearm for the "possession with intent" crime. CP 62-65.

The charges stemmed from items found in an apartment rented by Alexandro Delano and found by officers when they served a search warrant there for Mr. Newman and "controlled substances." RP 208-209. Once inside the home, the officers found a room which had some bandaging the police thought belonged to Mr. Newman, who had a recent leg injury. RP 201-204. An officer testified that there was also medical paperwork for Newman in the room but those papers were not seized nor recorded in any way. RP 275.

Next to the bed in that room was a locked safe. RP 205. Police asked Mr. Newman if he had a key or combination to the safe but he said he did not. RP 218-269. A detective then took the safe, which had been carried outside by officers, and slammed it onto the nearby sidewalk. RP 218-19. The detective admitted he had to drop the safe "again and again" to break it open. RP 218.

Inside the safe were found a .45 caliber Ruger later determined to have been stolen, bullets of various caliber, some pills, a digital scale with residue, a plastic bag which tested positive for the presence of methamphetamine and which weighed 5.9 grams, a coffee grinder with brown residue which appeared to be heroin and a package of "lactose." RP 219-20, 255. The State did not test the gun or other items for

fingerprints.

Kristen Celeski testified that the safe in the apartment was hers, as was the firearm, coffee grinder and other items inside. RP 344. She described the firearm as having engraving on it. RP 344. The key to the broken safe was later found in a common area of the house on the floor and an officer said the key was in an area he thought Mr. Newman had been standing at one point. RP 225, 270. Ryan Lorenzo testified that his truck had been rummaged through while parked at a relative's home and several items taken, including a custom engraved firearm. RP 188, 190-91.

E. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE GRANTED

1. IT IS TIME FOR THE COURT TO TAKE REVIEW AND ADDRESS THE WIDESPREAD CONTINUING VIOLATIONS CRIMINAL RULE 3.2 REGARDING PRETRIAL RELEASE, INCLUDING THE FAILURE OF THE LOWER COURTS TO COMPLY WITH AMENDMENTS SPECIFICALLY MADE TO REDRESS RACIST AND UNFAIR PRETRIAL RELEASE PRACTICES

In 1997, this Court's Minority and Justice Commission raised serious concerns about racial and ethnic disparities and discriminatory practices in pre-trial release decisions. George Bridges, A Study on Racial and Ethnic Disparities in Superior Court Bail and Pre-Trial Detention Practices in Washington, Washington State Minority and Justice Commission (Oct. 1997).² Calls for change focused in large part on CrR 3.2, the superior court rule governing pretrial release. Id.; see also, In the Matter of the Adoption of the Amendments to CrR 3.2, CrR 3.2.1, CrRLJ 3.2

 $^{^2} A \textit{vailable at } \textbf{https://www.courts.wa.gov/committee/pdf/1997_ResearchStudy.pdf.}$

and CrRLJ 3.2.1, Order No. 25700-A-721 (WSR 02-01-025) (Dec. 6, 2001).

As a result of the concerns, the rule was quickly amended. <u>See id.</u>
The amendments require superior courts to not only apply the presumption of pretrial release with *no* conditions but also to conduct a balancing analysis and impose the least restrictive release conditions possible. <u>See id.</u> Not only that, the rule now explicitly requires a court to consider all other possible conditions - and the defendant's specific financial condition - prior to imposing a financial condition or "bail" on the accused. <u>See State v. Ingram</u>, 9 Wn.App.2d 482, 447 P.3d 192 (2019), review denied, 194 Wn.2d 1024 (2020).

Across the state, however, trial courts are failing to follow the new provisions of the Rule. As the cases discussed herein show, it is now time for this Court to grant review in order to redress and correct these repeated, widespread failures. Even though "moot," the issues are of continuing and substantial public interest, arising again and again but evading review. CrR 3.2(a) provides:

Presumption of Release in Noncapital Cases. Any person, other than a person charged with a capital offense, shall at the preliminary appearance or reappearance... be ordered released on the accused's personal recognizance pending trial unless

- (1) the court determines that such recognizance will not reasonably assure the accused's appearance, when required, or
- (2) there is shown a likely danger that the accused:
 - (a) will commit a violent crime, or
 - (b) will seek to intimidate witnesses, or otherwise unlawfully interfere with the administration of justice.

Thus, under the rule, there is a presumption of pretrial release with *no* conditions, i.e., on "personal recognizance." State v. Rose, 146 Wn. App. 439, 450-51, 191 P.3d 83 (2008). The Court of Appeals has held that presumption is not overcome under subsection (2) based on the average "likely danger" presented by people accused of the crime but must instead be based on "available" information to prove a "substantial" danger in the specific case. See id; see also Butler v. Kato, 137 Wn. App. 515, 524, 154 P.3d 259 (2007). Further, the Rule sets forth a list of relevant facts the trial court is supposed to consider, including not just the record of the accused and nature of the charge but past evidence of compliance with pretrial release conditions and the willingness of members in the community to assist the accused in complying with release conditions. See CrR 3.2(b).

Even if the trial court finds that an accused presents a "likely danger" under (2) or is likely not to return without conditions under (1), the trial court does not have unlimited discretion regarding conditions it may impose for pretrial release. As amended in response to the concerns raised by the 1997 Report, CrR 3.2(d)(6) provides:

[The court may] [r]require the accused to post a secured or unsecured bond or deposit cash in lieu thereof, conditioned on compliance with all conditions of release. This condition may be imposed only if no less restrictive conditions or combination of conditions would reasonably assure the safety of the community. If the court determines under this section that the accused must post a secured or unsecured bond, the court shall consider, on the available information, the accused's financial resources for the purposes of setting bond that will reasonably assure the safety of the community and prevent the defendant from intimidating witnesses or otherwise unlawfully interfering with the administration of justice.

CrR 3.2(d)(6) (emphasis added).

In this case, the trial court made no findings of any specific, substantial danger that Mr. Newman would commit a violent crime if released, nor was there any evidence he would go try to intimidate a witness. At the preliminary hearing, with counsel just appointed moments before, the prosecutor talked about Newman's criminal history and the nature of the charge, asking for \$50,000 bail on those grounds. RP 3-4. The prosecutor told the judge Mr. Newman had "six prior warrants" and "14 prior felony convictions," which the prosecutor described as "some aggravated criminal history," including several assault convictions, a residential burglary, 2 court-order violation felonies and a count of witness tampering in the past. RP 3-4.

The prosecutor also stated concern that there was a gun found in this case with a bunch of drugs and the gun was reported stolen. RP 3-4. Someone, apparently newly appointed counsel, pointed out that Mr. Newman had lived at the same address in the community for 7 years, had been on bail before and made court appearances, and had a leg injury for which he was receiving treatment. RP 4-5. The court was asked to "consider PR'ing him based primarily on his medical condition." RP 5. Without further discussion, the judge declared, "I'm going to set bail at \$35,000." RP 7.

The judge thus violated CrR 3.2. There was no evidence of any specific, substantial danger Mr. Newman would commit a violent crime or of a witness he was believed likely to go try to affect. The decision depended only on a general concern for safety based on the prior

convictions and current charges. That was insufficient to show a "substantial danger" sufficient to rebut the strong presumption of pretrial release on personal recognizance.

More, however, the judge then went on to violate CrR 3.2(d)(6), by failing to consider all "less restrictive condition or combination of conditions" prior to imposing a financial condition of \$35,000 on an indigent accused. There was no discussion of any other such conditions or how they might be used. Further, there was no discussion of Mr. Newman's financial situation prior to the judge imposing the \$35,000 amount, so the court failed to follow the requirement that a court "shall consider" the specific financial resources of the accused in reaching an appropriate "bail."

Unfortunately, Mr. Newman is not alone. In courtrooms across the state, trial courts are failing to follow the requirements of CrR 3.2, especially the amendments requiring imposing financial "bail" only as a last resort and only then after conducting the new required analysis about the financial situation of the accused. See Ingram, supra (Clark County); see also State v. Garcia, 15 Wn. App.2d 1044 (2020) (unpublished) (Thurston County); State v. Ewing, 13 Wn. App.2d 1023 (2020) (unpublished) (Pierce County); State v. Comenout, Jr., 10 Wn. App.2d 1038 (2019) (unpublished) (Pierce County); State v. Cummings, 8 Wn. App.2d 1006 (2019) (unpublished) (Pierce County); State v. Wilson, 8 Wn. App.2d 1005 (2019) (unpublished) (Lewis County); State v. Huckins, 5 Wn. App.2d 457, 426 P.3d 797 (2018) (Clallam County); State v. Barnes, 4 Wn. App.2d 1079 (2018) (unpublished) (Pierce County).

Not only are these issues arising in multiple counties, they are also showing up in multiple courtrooms within a county. In Pierce County, for example, the Honorable Judges James Orlando, Frank Cuthbertson, and Stanley Rumbaugh all made the same or markedly similar mistakes in application of the amended CrR 3.2. See Ewing, supra (Judge Rumbaugh); Comenout, Jr., supra (Judge Cuthbertson), Cummings, supra (Judge Cuthbertson), Barnes, supra (Judge Orlando).

In <u>Huckins</u>, decided on September 25, 2018, Division Two issued a published decision cautioning against the failure to follow these mandates of the amended rule. First, the Court recognized the issue was technically "moot," because it involved pretrial "bail" and there was no longer any "effective relief" the Court could provide for the improper rulings. 5 Wn. App.2d at 463. The Court then addressed the CrR 3.2 bail issue anyway, because of its extreme importance and potential impact, as well as the lack of existing cases providing guidance:

The issue in this case is of a public nature involving the setting of bail and concerning the interpretation of a court rule. The proper interpretation and application of the bail rule is relevant to all criminal cases and there is currently a dearth of cases on point. Deciding this issue would provide useful guidance and assistance to all judges who have a duty to set release conditions for criminal defendants. The setting of release conditions is likely to recur. Additionally, given the time constraints inherent in criminal cases, the issue might otherwise evade appellate review.

Huckins, 5 Wn. App.2d at 463-64.

The <u>Huckins</u> Court next recognized that the purpose of CrR 3.2 was to "alleviate the hardships associated with pretrial detentions and bail," noting that being held in custody pretrial has significant impacts on

the lives of the accused not just in preparing their defense and their criminal case but also in losing their jobs and ability to support their families. Huckins, 5 Wn. App.2d at 465.

Although it found there was sufficient evidence to assume a finding of "danger to the community" under the abuse of discretion standard of review, the Court then agreed with Mr. Huckins that the trial court had violated CrR 3.2(d) in imposing financial bail. 5 Wn. App.2d at 467-68. "The condition of monetary bail may only be imposed if no less restrictive condition or combination of conditions would reasonably assure the safety of the community," the <u>Huckins</u> Court explained. <u>Id</u>. The trial court had imposed travel and other pretrial restrictions, but made no "oral or written finding that these or other conditions" would not be sufficient to "reasonably assure the safety of the community," absent imposition of pretrial bail. 5 Wn. App.2d at 469.

The published opinion concluded that the trial court had "abused its discretion by requiring monetary bail without considering less restrictive conditions as required by the law." <u>Huckins</u>, 5 Wn. App. 2d at 469. The Court further used its opinion to "emphasize that courts must comply with the criminal rules when setting bail." 5 Wn. App.2d at 470.

After <u>Huckins</u>, Division Two again noted the problem of trial courts failing to follow the rule in <u>Cummings</u>, <u>supra</u>. In <u>Cummings</u>, an unpublished case, the Court declared, "[a]s in <u>Huckins</u>, we again emphasize that trial courts must comply with the requirements of CrR 3.2 when imposing monetary bail as a condition of pretrial release." 8 Wn. App.2d 1006 (unpublished). Because it was unpublished, the

<u>Cummings</u> decision had no precedential value, however, only such "persuasive" value as courts chose to give it.

A year after <u>Huckins</u>, Dvision Two felt the need to address the issue in a published case yet again, with <u>Ingram</u>. Like in <u>Huckins</u>, in <u>Ingram</u> Division Two found the issue to be a matter of continuing and substantial public interest upon which the court needed to pass. <u>Ingram</u>, 9 Wn. App.2d at 490. The Court also recognized the public importance of bail issues, then declared it would review the issue, even though "moot," because of the need for further guidance for lower courts:

Deciding this case would provide a useful reminder to the trial courts of the requirements of setting bail and release conditions for criminal defendants - issues that are likely to recur. . . and otherwise evade appellate review.

Ingram, 9 Wn. App.2d at 490. In Ingram, the court of appeals held that CrR 3.2 does not require oral or written findings that the presumption of pretrial release has been "overcome." 9 Wn. App.2d at 493. The Court also disagreed with Mr. Ingram about whether the presumption was sufficiently rebutted. 9 Wn. App.2d at 495-96.

The <u>Ingram</u> Court agreed, however, that the trial court had failed to follow the mandates of the rule before imposing monetary "bail," just as in <u>Huckins</u>. 9 Wn. App.2d at 496. In <u>Ingram</u>, the trial court had erred in failing to "impose the least restrictive of several enumerated conditions," failing to determine that "no less restrictive condition or combination of conditions would not suffice before imposing the financial "bail," and failing to "consider the defendant's financial resources" in determining the amount. 9 Wn. App.2d at 496. Division

Two concluded that the trial court erred by imposing a \$60,000 "bail" on an indigent but noted "there is no relief that we can offer." 9 Wn.

App.2d at 497.

Huckins and Ingram have now been relied on in multiple cases where the same issues have arisen, not to provide relief but to avoid discussing the issues, finding them "moot." See, e.g., Garcia, supra (declining to address the issues because of Ingram and Huckins); Ewing, supra (Ingram and Huckins provide controlling authority and were decided after the bail decision was made in Ewing); Comenout, Jr., supra (declining to address the issue because Huckins provided the "authoritative determination for future guidance" on the issue); Cummings, supra (declining to address the issue because of Huckins but declaring, "we again emphasize that trial courts must comply with the requirements of CrR 3.2 when imposing monetary bail as a condition of pretrial release").

This Court should grant review on this important issue of continuing and substantial public interest. The circumstances surrounding pretrial release and "bail" decisions are by definition short-lived and likely to evade review. See, e.g., Yakima v. Mollett, 115 Wn. App. 604, 63 P.3d 177 (2003). Further, this Court has held that "the proper form of bail is a matter of continuing and substantial public interest, overcoming any claim of mootness." State v. Barton, 181 Wn.2d 148, 152, 331 P.3d 50 (2014). CrR 3.2 was originally drafted "to overhaul the monetary bail system" and provide for greater release of the pretrial accused in order to "alleviate some of the burdens imposed

upon an accused individual awaiting trial in jail." Harris v. Charles, 171
Wash.2d 455, 468, 256 P.3d 328 (2011). The amendments to CrR 3.2
made after the 1997 Report were intended to try to diminish the
disparate, unfair and often racist practices the Commission observed.
The repeated failure of trial courts to follow the mandates of the rule
prior to imposing financial conditions of "bail" has a serious impact on
the accused. As the drafters of CrR 3.2 noted years ago,
when the accused is held in pretrial detention by the state, he "is
severely handicapped in his defense preparation" and "is often unable to
retain his job and support his family, and is made to suffer the public
stigma of incarceration even though he may later be found not guilty."
CRIMINAL RULES TASK FORCE, WASHINGTON PROPOSED RULES OF
CRIMINAL PROCEDURE Rule 3.2, cmt. at 22 (West Publ'q Co.1971).

The U.S. Supreme Court itself has held:

The time spent in jail awaiting trial has a detrimental impact on the individual. It often means loss of a job; it disrupts family life; and it enforces idleness. Most jails offer little or no recreational or rehabilitative programs. The time spent in jail is simply dead time.

Barker v. Wingo, 407 U.S. 514, 532-33, 33 L. Ed. 2d 101, 92 S. Ct. 2182 (1972).

By definition, the continuing failure by lower courts to follow the mandates of CrR 3.2 prior to imposing financial conditions of "bail" is aggravating the very goals this Court's Minority and Justice Commission sought to further in amending the rule. These failures do not just implicate the rule but also important constitutional rights. The Eighth Amendment and Article 1, section 14, prohibit "excessive bail." See

Barton, 181 Wn.2d at 152; State v. Heslin, 63 Wn.2d 957, 959-60, 389 P.3d 892 (1964); United States v. Salerno, 481 U.D. 739, 742, 107 S. Ct. 2095, 96 L. Ed.2d 697 (1987). Article 1, section 20, goes further by ensuring a right to bail "by sufficient sureties" in all cases except a very few, while due process mandates a presumption of innocence pretrial and principles of equal protection require that court decisions regarding pretrial release must not discriminate against the accused based on race or indigency.

See Barton, supra; Tate v. Short, 401 U.S. 395, 398, 91 s. Ct. 668, 28 L. Ed. 2d 130 (1971); Bearden v. Georgia, 461 U.S. 660, 672-73, 103 S. Ct. 2016, 76 L. Ed.2d 221 (1983).

The constitutional implications of keeping someone in government custody before they are proven guilty are many and, as this Court has noted, pretrial release and liberty is supposed to be the norm.

Barton, 181 Wn.2d at 150; see also, Salerno, 481 U.S. at 742. Further, it is an essential part of pretrial due process - even "implicit in the concept of ordered liberty" - that every person is presumed innocent unless and until proven guilty by the state, beyond a reasonable doubt. See Estelle v.

Williams, 425 U.S. 501, 503, 96 S. Ct. 1691, 48 L. Ed. 2d 368 (1970). As a result, being a pretrial detainee is far different and due process provides far greater protection for such detainees as compared with those being detained after conviction, either in custody or on parole. See Bell v.

Wolfish, 441 U.S. 520, 535 n. 16, 99 S. Ct. 1861, 60 L. Ed. 2d 447 (1997); State v. Hartzog, 96 Wn.2d 383, 635 P.2d 694 (1981).

There is also strong evidence that pretrial detention correlates to increased likelihood of conviction and higher sentence. *See* Andrew D.

Leipold, How the Pretrial Process Contributes to Wrongful Convictions, 42

AM. CRIM. L. REV. 1123, 1165 (2005); Christopher T. Lowenkamp et. al,

Investigating the Impact of Pretrial Detention on Sentencing Outcomes,

Arnold Foundation (Nov. 2013).³ There can be no question that a person still cloaked with the presumption of innocence suffers significant negative impact on their lives - and their case - when deprived of the presumption of release on personal recognizance set forth in CrR 3.2. The existence of a separate "second class" system of accused in jail despite the presumption of innocence, based on inability to post monetary bail has been discussed with concern for years. See, e.g., John S. Goldkamp,

Two Classes of the Accused: A Study of Bail and Detention in American

Justice (Ballinger Publishing Co., 1979) (Cambridge, Ma); see also, Ram

Subramanian et al, Incarceration's Front Door: The Misuse of Jails in

America, Vera Institute of Justice) (Feb. 2015).⁴

Exacerbating this issue, the private "bail bonds" industry, outlawed in all but one other country in the world, has enjoyed staggering growth. See Subramanian et al, supra. The average length of pretrial stay also increased during this time, from 14 to 23 days, but in Washington state it is usually far, far longer. See, e.g., Caseloads of the Courts, Superior Courts, Criminal Case Management (2016).

³Available at https://csgjusticecenter.org/courts/publications/investigating-the-impact-of-pretrial-detention-on-sentencing-outcomes/

⁴Available at https://www.vera.org/publications/incarcerations-front-door-the-misuse-of-jails-in-america.

⁵Available at http://www.courts.wa.gov/caseload/ ?fa=caseload.showReport&level=s&freq=a&tab=trend&fileID=Crimcm.

Over this same time, there has been a stark increase in the use of "financial" conditions upon people presumed innocent, awaiting trial.

From 1990 to 1998, "non-financial" release in state courts dropped from 40% of all those released to 28%. *See* Thomas H. Cohen and Brian A.

Reaves, Bureau of Justice Statistics, Special Report, *Pretrial Release of Felony Defendants in State Courts* (Nov. 2007).⁶

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