# FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 7/2/2021 11:09 AM BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

#### NO. 998515 COA NO. 526034-II

#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

#### STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

vs.

#### ERIC NEWMAN,

Petitioner.

#### RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

RYAN JURVAKAINEN Prosecuting Attorney AILA R. WALLACE/WSBA #46898 Deputy Prosecuting Attorney Representing Respondent

HALL OF JUSTICE 312 SW FIRST KELSO, WA 98626 (360) 577-3080

# **

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

#### IV. ARGUMENT

RAP 13.4(b) states that a petition for review will only be accepted by the Supreme Court if one of four conditions are met: (1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of another division of the Court of Appeals; (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the

United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. Neither in the petition for review nor in the decision from the Court of Appeals are there any issues that would fall under one of the four conditions as outlined by RAP 13.4(b). The Court of Appeals decision in this case is not in conflict with any decisions of either the Washington Supreme Court or another division of the Court of Appeals. The holding also does not raise a significant question of law, and while pretrial bail issues may be of public interest, that issue is moot and has been settled by recent case law.

# A. Newman's petition should be denied as the issue of his pretrial release or bail is moot and does not present a continuing and substantial public interest.

An issue on appeal is moot if the reviewing court can no longer provide the party effective relief. *State v. Harris*, 148 Wn. App. 22, 26, 197 P.3d 1206 (2006), *citing State v. Ross*, 152 Wn.2d 220, 228, 95 P.3d 1225 (2004). An issue that is moot will not be considered unless "it involves matters of continuing and substantial public interest." *In re Eaton*, 110 Wn.2d 892, 895, 757 P.3d 961 (1988). In *Harris*, the court found Harris's appellate claim regarding the calculation of his offender score moot because Harris had served all of his incarceration time and was not sentenced to serve community custody. *Harris*, 148 Wn. App. at 26. Harris would have had cause for relief if he had been sentenced to community custody that would have ended earlier if he had been sentenced under the appropriate offender score. *Id.* at 27. There was no relief that could be offered to Harris because he had already served all of his time. *Id.* at 26–27.

Here, Newman acknowledges that the issue of the trial court's imposition of pretrial release conditions is most but petitions the court to address it regardless. While courts have addressed moot issues when they constitute a matter of continuing and substantial public interest, that is not shown here. See State v. Hunley, 175 Wn.2d 901, 907, 287 P.3d 584 (2012). Newman complains the superior court in this case refused to apply CrR 3.2. Petition for Review 6. However, the trial court did consider the relevant facts listed in CrR 3.2(c) and (e). The trial court considered Newman's criminal record, the nature of the charge, Newman's past record of threats to victims or interference with witnesses, as well as Newman's past record of deadly weapons. RP 3–5. While the trial court did not explicitly state the reasons for the bail amount he set, the inference is that he based his decision on the information provided by the State and defense counsel, which covered the relevant portions of CrR 3.2. Therefore, this Court should deny Newman's petition, as it is moot and the trial court conducted the relevant inquiries.

Additionally, recent cases on this issue obviate the need for additional guidance from this Court. Newman cites a number of cases in his petition that all came after the trial court set bail in his case. For example, *State v. Huckins* was decided on September 25, 2018, while the trial court set bail in Newman's case on March 9, 2018. The other cases cited by Newman were decided in 2019 and 2020. This issue has been clearly addressed by the courts after bail was set in Newman's case. There is no need for further guidance on this issue and there is no evidence that this issue will recur in the future. Therefore, the issue is moot and does not require further review. The State respectfully asks this Court to deny the petition for review.

B. Newman's petition should be denied as the issues of prosecutorial misconduct and ineffective assistance of counsel do not raise a significant question of law and are not of public interest.

With all claims of misconduct, "the defendant bears the burden of establishing that the conduct complained of was both improper and prejudicial." *State v. Stenson*, 132 Wn.2d 668, 718, 940 P.2d 1239 (1997), citing *State v. Luvene*, 132 Wn.2d 668, 701, 903 P.2d 960 (1995). When determining whether conduct was improper, the court reviews the effect of allegedly improper comments not in isolation, but in the context of the total argument and the issues in the case. *State v. Brown*, 132 Wn.2d 529,

561, 940 P.2d 546 (1997). Even if it is shown that the conduct was
improper, misconduct does not require reversal unless there is a
substantial likelihood the misconduct affected the verdict. *State v. Wilson*,
20 Wn. App. 592, 595, 581 P.2d 592 (1978).

When a defendant fails to object to allegedly improper comments at trial, the error is considered waived unless the remark is so "flagrant and ill-intentioned that it causes an enduring and resulting prejudice that could not have been neutralized by an admonition to the jury." State v. Russell, 125 Wn.2d 24, 86, 882 P.2d 747 (1994), quoting State v. Hoffman, 116 Wn.2d 51, 93, 804 P.2d 577 (1991); State v. York, 50 Wn. App. 446, 458-59, 749 P.2d 683 (1987). If a defendant – who did not object at trial – can establish that misconduct occurred, then he must also show that "(1) no curative instruction would have obviated any prejudicial effect on the jury and (2) the misconduct resulted in prejudice that had a substantial likelihood of affecting the jury verdict." State v. Emery, 174 Wn.2d 741, 760-61, 278 P.3d 653 (2012). Under this heightened standard, a reviewing court is to focus less on whether the prosecutor's conduct was flagrant or ill-intentioned and more on whether the resulting prejudice could have been cured. Id. at 762; Russell, 125 Wn.2d at 85 ("Reversal is not required if the error could have been obviated by a curative instruction which the defense did not request."). The absence of an objection at the

time of the argument "strongly suggests to a court that the argument or event in question did not appear critically prejudicial to an appellant in the context of the trial." *State v. Swan*, 114 Wn.2d 613, 661, 790 P.2d 610 (1990).

Here, the Court of Appeals correctly held that the improper statement could easily have been ameliorated by a curative instruction referring jurors to the instructions that tell them the prosecutor's statements are not evidence, that they are to disregard anything the lawyers say that is not supported by the evidence, that circumstantial evidence carries the same weight as direct evidence, and that the evidence they are to consider is the testimony and exhibits only. The prosecutor's statement in the case as bar was not so egregious that a curative instruction would have been ineffective. Jurors are presumed to follow instructions. Therefore, an instruction from the court would have cured any potential prejudice.

Newman also fails to show that the prosecutor's argument affected the jury's verdict. As discussed above, there was other evidence to support the inference that Newman knew the gun was stolen, including the unique nature of the firearm itself, its missing magazine, and how close in time the gun was found in Newman's possession after it was stolen. The

jury could infer from this information that the knowledge element had been met.

Finally, Newman fails to show that trial counsel was ineffective. To establish ineffective assistance of counsel, a defendant must show both that counsel's performance was deficient and that the deficiency prejudiced the defendant. *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668, 687, 104 S. Ct. 2052 (1984); *State v. Thomas*, 109 Wn.2d 222, 225, 743 P.2d 816 (1987). When the claim of ineffective assistance of counsel is based on a failure to object, the defendant must show that an objection to the evidence would likely have been sustained and that the result of the trial would have been different had the evidence not been admitted. *State v. Saunders*, 91 Wn. App. 575, 578, 958 P.2d 364 (1998), citing *State v. Hendrickson*, 129 Wn.2d 61, 80, 917 P.2d 563 (1996). As discussed above, an objection to the prosecutor's argument would not have been sustained, since the argument did not misstate the law or the burden of proof. Therefore, Newman's trial counsel was not ineffective.

The trial court properly held that the improper statement did not require reversal. Because this is not an issue of public interest and does not raise a significant question of law, this Court should deny the petition for review.

### V. CONCLUSION

For the reasons stated above, the State respectfully requests this Court deny Newman's petition for review.